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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

The trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditory report of the
charitable company for the year ended 31 August 2024. The annuar report serves the purposes of both a
trustees'report, and a directors,report under company law.

The trust operates a multi academy trust (MAT) seMng a catchment area in Cumbria and Lancashire. The MAT
comprises the folloning schools:

. Dallam School

Dallam school is a mixed, converter academy school with state boarding provision for pupils aged 11 to 19,
serving a catchment area in Milnthorpe and the surrounding area. lt has a pupil capacity of 1150 (increased
from 1050 from 01 september 2021) and had a roll of 882 in the school census on 03 october 2024.

Structue, Goyemance and Manatement
Constitution
The multi academy trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable companys
memorandum and articles of association are the primary toverning documents of the multi academy trust.
The trustees of the South Westmorland Multi Academy Trust are also the directors of the charitable company
for the purposes of company law. The charitable company is known as the South westmorland Multi Academy
Trust.

The full board of trustees is responsible to the Secretary of State and to the school, its staff, pupils and parents
for the successful leadership and management of the school. A smaller group of trustees also act as the
trustees for the charitable activities of Dallam S€hool Charitable Trust Limited and are also the directors of the
charitable company for the purposes of company law.

Details of the trustees who served during the year are included in the Reference and Administrative Details on
page 1.

Members LiabiliW
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in
the event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member,
such amount as may be required, not exceedin8 €10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased
to be a member.

Trustee's lndemnities
The multi academy trust has purchased indemnity insurance to protect trustees and officers from claims arisint
in connection with academy business.

Method of Recruitment and ADDointment or Election ofTrustees
The trustees are appointed under the terms ofthe multi academy trust's articles of association as follows:

. Up to 10 trusteet appointed under Article 50
' A minimum of 2 Parent Trustees elected or appointed under Articles 53-56 in the event that no t-ocal

Advisory Committees are established under Article lOOa or if no provision is made for at least 2 parent
Local Adviso6 on each established Local Advisory Committee pursuant to Article 101A.

' ln circumstances where the Trustees have not appointed Local Advisory Committees in respect of the
Academies as envisaged in Article 100a or if no provision is made for at least 2 Parent Local Advisors on
each established Local Advisory Committee pursuant to Anicle 1O1A there shall be a minimum of two
Parent Trustees and otherwise such number as the Members shall decide who shall be appointed or
elected in accordance with Articles 54 - 56.

' The total number of Trustees including the Accounting Officer if they so choose to act as Trustee under
Article 57 who are employees of the Academy Trust shall not exceed one third of the total number of
Trustees.

. Providing that the Accounting Officer agrees so to act, the Members may by ordinary resolution appoint
the Accounting Officer as a Trustee.

' The Trustees may appoint co-opted Trustees.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES.REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Method of Recruitment and Apoointment or Election ofTrustees (continued)

New trustees are recruited on the basis of the skills and competencies required to address gaps highlighted in
regular skills audits ofthe existing MAT board.

The term of office for all trustees is four years. The Accounting Officer is not appointed as a trustee. The

trustees who were in office at 31st August 2024 or who served throughout the perlod, except where shoyvn,

are listed on page 1.

Policies and Procedures Adooted for the lnduction and Traininc of Trustees.

During the period under review the trustees held 5 meetings. The South westmorland MAT recognises that
new trustees do not necessarily have a background in education or a thorough understanding of the school. To

ensure they receive the necessary support to undertake their duties as soon as possible, the induction and

training process includes:
' A preliminary informal discussion with the Headteacher, and as necessary the Chair of the MAT or Local

Advisory Committee, to ensure they understand their general responsibilities and time commitment

An induction meeting with the Headteacher, Chair of the MAT and Chair of the Local Advisory
Committee, to include a tour ofthe school

An induction pack and initial training on the school systems and sources of information by the Clerk

Assignment of a mentor from the existing l-ocalAdvisory Committe€

Regular training on developments in go\€mance issues

Annualtraining for each trurtee related to their specific roles

Organisational Structure
The trustees are the charity trustees and are responsible for the general control and management of the
administration of the trust in accordance wlth the provisions set out in the Memorandum and Articles of
Assoclation. The Board of Trustees is accountable for the performance of all academles within the trust and as

such must:
Ensure clarity ofvision, ethos and stratetic direction
Hold the Acidemy Heads to account for the educational performance of the schools and their pupils, and the
performance management of staff
Oversee the financial performance of the trust and make sure its money is r,vell spent
The Trust Board is permitted to exercise all the powers of the Academy Trust and delegates responsibility for
the day to day operdtions to the Accounting Officer. The Accounting Officer has the delegated responsibility
for the operation of the trust including the performance of the trust's academies and performance
management of the academy heads. Assistance is provided by the chairs of each Local Advisory Committee.

ln the role ofAccounting Officer the Chief Executive Officer holds overall responslbility for the acrdemy trust's
financial responsibilities and must ensure that the organisation is run with financial effectiveness and stability;
avoiding waste and securing value for money. As leader of the MATS leadershlp team the Accounting Officer
can delegate executive manatement functions to the team and is responsible for thelr performance.

Arranpements for Settins Pav and Remuneration of Kev Manaqement personnel

The MAT Board holds responsibility for setting the pay and remuneration of the academy's key management
personnel in accordance with the Pay Pollcy for Teachers, based on the format of the DfE,s model policy and
NJC terms and conditions for support staff. Pay progression is based on an annual cycle running from lst
September to 31st August and is determined by achievement of pre determined performance objectives.
Responsibility for the appraisal process has been delegated to the Head Teachers Pay Review Committee and
Pay Review Committees, both sub committees of the MAT Board. The MAT Board has delegated responsibility
for the appointm€nt and performance management of the academy heads to the Accounting Officer through
the Scheme of Delegation.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUITI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Trade union facil time

Relevant union officials

tttumber of employffi
dqring the relevant period

Full-time equivalent employee number

3 2.8

Percentate of time spent on facility time

Percentage of time X!]Iber of employees
0)6 0
t% - 5@1 3
51% - 99% 0
700% 0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Totalcost of facility time f1-80o
Totalpav bill 86,15t,572
% of total oav bil Ispent on faciliw time o.o29%

Paid trade union activities

There was no paid union activity during the period

Related Parties nd other Connected Charities a d Orsanisations
The multi academy trust is made up ofthe following schools

.DallamSchool

Dallam School supports the rationale that there is strength in partnechips and is a member of the South Lakes
Federation to bring rigour, challenge and a greater capacity for improvement. The collaborative federation is
made up of nine secondary schoolt Kendal Collete and a special school within the South Lakes area, providing
an opportunity for curriculum enrichment, access for students to vocational courses and support for gifted and
talented students. A series of'thresholds for performance' or benchmarks for attainment and progress of
students are set within the federdtion and support for improvement is provided where necessary,

Dallam School is also a member of the South Lakes Rural partnership (St-Rp), a group of secondary and primary
phase schools workinS as part of a wide ranging partnership with a focus on school improvement, service
provision, staff development, trainin& tovernance and leadership.

Dallam School benefits financially from Dallam School charitable Trust, an unincorporated charity whose
objects include assisting the trustees to defray the costs of maintenance of the school, assist in providing
special benefits not normally provided by the DfE, and to promote the education of persons who are
attendin&/have attended the school.

Objecttlres and ActMdes
Obiects and Aims
The main objects of the muhi academy trust are:

. to advance for the public benefit education in the United Kingdom, by establishing, maintaining,
managing and developing s€hools offering a broad and balanced curriculum

' to promote for the benefit of the inhabitants of the areas in which the academies are situated the
provision of facilities for recreation or other leisure time occupation with the object of improving the
condition of life.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Obiectives. Stratepies and Activities
The main obiectives for the year, the strategies for achieving them, and the key peEonnel and timeframes are

all detailed within our school improvement plan. Progress toward these objectives was monitored through
weekly meetings ofthe senior leadership team. South westmorland MultiAcademy Trust monitored and

evaluated this protress throuth the LocalAdvisory Committee and regular Headteacher reports.

The priorities detailed in the school improvement plan during 2023-24 were as follows:

SIP Ptoddes

To create a safe, inclusive, respectful and vibrant culture through; high quality personal development

, provision; valuable and productive time with form tutors and pastoral leads; and increased extra and

super curricular opportunities to nurture, develop and stretch studentC talents and relationships.

To focus on high quality daily teaching by; embedding the EEF five-a-day; using high thinUparticipation
ratios and finely calibrated assessments to identiry learning gaps, misconceptions, and next steps;

implementing quality flrst teaching strategies for all students, to support disadvantaged children and

children wlth SEND; securinS effective professional developmenu and applying whole school strategies

to improve student protress in reading and mathematics.

To realise a strong school community through establishing positive relationships built on a knowledge of

. our people and their contexts, consistent routines, boundaries and expectations, an understanding of
social emotional learning (SEt), parental engagement, a robust people strategy, community outreach

and promoting a love of learning and sense of belonging.
Public Benefit

ln setting the obiectives, the trustees have given careful consideration to the Charity Commission's general

guidance on public benefit and in particular to its supplementary public benefit guidance on advancing
education.

Stratetic Report

Adrlerements and Peirormance
During the academlc year 2023-24 Dallam School and SWMAT made considerdble progress towards the SIP

priorities. Progression was measured and monitored throu8h the local advisory committee meetings and our
LAC champions, who provid€d both support and challenge to school leaders. LAC champions cover the
following areas:

. Performance and evaluation (examination and performance data, pupilattendance and recruitment)

safetuardint

SEND

Pupil premium

Equality

Careers provision

Sixth Form

Boarding

Mental health and wellbelng

Personal development

Behaviour and attitudes
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SOUTH WESTMORI-AND MUTTT ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Achi€vements and pertormance lcontinued I

The South Westmorlond Multi Acodemy Trust ochievements in the yeor include:
A detailed assessment of MATS in the local area followed by a decision to join the development of a new

. MAT with Lunesdale Learning Trust and Kirkbie Kendal. Lunesdale Leaming Trust subsequently pulled
out and further discussions about MAT growth remain on hold.

' Continued movement towards a strategic level of discussion at MAT Board level, with key areas
identified and discussed at length on a rolling basis.

' The Trust Board and Local Advisory Committee has attracted a broad range of people to fill vacant posts
and has a good balance ofskill sets to support the work of the Trust.

Dollom School ochievements in the yeor include;

Extended form time has strengthened tutor-student relationships, providing a calm, consistent, and
supportive environment.

we successfully relaunched residentials and team-building days, boosting participation and fostering
social skills and belonging.

The Personal Development cuniculum emphasises relationshipt tolerance, and respect, promoting a
more inclusive school ethot with positive student feedback on peer interactions.

DNAS became a non-negotiable part of lessons, promoting high levels of participation right ftom the
start. This has set a focused tone in classrooms and improved student engagement.

The team has focused on balancinB cognitive load and incorporating effective retrieval techniques such
as spaced and interleaved practice. These strateBies have helped students retain knowledge more
effectively.

Clear reinforcement of the STAR expedations: Sit up, Track the speaker, Ask and answer questions,
Respect those around you-has driven up classroom standards and promoted respectful, engaged
learning environments.

Clarity and consistency in behaviour policies. Routines are now firmly embedded, and the immediacy of
sanctions and rewards has been a key factor in maintaining positive behaviour and motivation among
students.

The development of Synergy has been instrumental in increasing parental involvement. Real-time
feedback and assignment tracking have enabled parents to stay connected with their child,s progress,
fostering stronger home-school partnerships.

Kev Financial Performance lndicators

Dallam School
StaffinP costs as a % oftotal income (excludinp capital income)

IeachrLstaff

.IEB 2022 2027 iftrlltm
Teachins staff Erd EE s2.a% 5t-094 Elrl
Support staff II'E EN t9.t% 20.@4 MB m
Total FFF 67.9% 7t.va 7t.M 0t 7n

-.N'A-IIFA-11611A-t:sgl
-EES.A-EEEA

-Ifitit-tirEl-'liga-t*F;
-TGTA-FEFI
-@-fiG?a

I3:r{7

2024 2023l 2022, 202r 202d 2019
Pupils on roll 995 10s9l 10821 tOAz 107s1 ao24
Full time equivalents teachers 59 611 641 67 681 66
Pupilteacher ratio 16.9 77.41 16.91 16.1 15.81 15.5
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES.REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

GoinE Concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the MAT Board of trustees has a reasonable expectation that the multi
academy trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason it adopts the going concem basis in preparinS the financial statements- Further details regarding the
adoption of the toing concem basis can be found in the Accounting Policies note ofthe financial statements.

Flnanclal Revlew
The South Westmorland MuhiAcademy Trust's 6nancial statements are for the year ended 3l August 2024

The Trust has continued to invest time and resource in exploring alternative markets for its boardint provision,

post Brexit and Covid. Recruitment of boarding students has been significantly better than expectations in the
5 year recovery plan, particularly for the Dallam Exp€rience programme.

The Academy Trust ends the year in a very stront financial position with net current assets totalling f1,053,371
(2023: €915,655). Trustees are mindful of the impact of the pension fund deficit on future employer costt and

the need to retrow the boarding provision post Brexit and the Covid-lg pandemic.

The majority of each academy's income is obtained from the Educational and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) in

the form of grants, the use of whlch is restricted to particular purposes. The grants receaved from the ESFA

during the year endcd 31 August 2024 and the related expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the
statement of fi nancial activities.

Dallam School is a state boarding school with 141 boarding places. A large proportion of its income is

tenerated from annual boardint fees.

Under Financial Reportint Standard 102, it is necessary to charge proiected deficits on the Local Government
Pension Scheme, which is provided to support staff, to a restricted fund. This results in reducing reserves

shown in the total funds of the academy. lt should be noted that this does not present the academy with any
current llquidity problem. The employer contributions are currently being assessed and it is e)eected that they
will increase to bring a reduction in this pension deficit in future, although this may not be achieved until stock
market investment values start to recover.

During the period ended 31 August 2024, total Beneral expenditure of 18,463,622 was covered by recunent
grant funding from the DfE together with other incoming resources. The excess of income over general

expenditure for the year was €163,725.

At 31 August 2024 the net book value of fixed assets was €10,364,279 and movements in tangible fixed assets
are shown in the notes to the financial statements. The assets were used exclusively for providing education
and the associated support services to the pupils ofthe Academy.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Reserves Policv
The level of reserves held takes into account the nature of income and expenditure streams, the need to match
them with commitments, incruding future capitar projects, and the nature ofthe reserves. The trustees
continue to keep the level of reserves under review.

The general unrestricted fund barance at the year end was f 266,04r (2023: E22r,698). The trustees berieve
that this level of reserves is required to support the running ofthe school. The designated sports fund at the
year end was f206,101 (2023: f185,893), this fund is for the purchase of sports equipment and the resurfacing
ofthe all weather pitch.

The Trust aspires to hold reserves in the reSion of one month of annual expenditure to ensure it is able to
produce a three year balanced budget, Support a staffing modelcommensurate with curriculum requirements
and maintain the Trust as a going concem in the event of unforeseen events, such as a pandemic. Trustees
acknowledge that arthouth the reserves reverof €1,09o373 held at 3rst August 2024 exceeds their
expectations, this provides the security required to support the boarding provision and mitigate the boarding
fund deficit durint the five year recovery plan.

Funds in Deticit
The trustees note that certain restricted funds are in deficit which have been disclosed in the funds note
supportinS the financial statements.

Pension Reserve Fund - this fund represents the deficit on the Local Government pension Scheme (LGPS) at the
year end. The academy has previously entered into an agreement effective from 01 April 2ol4 to make
additional contributions in addition to normalfunding levels. lt is anticipated that further payments will be
made over 10 years from 0l April 2023.

Boarding Fund - Trustees approved a balanced three-year budget, with healthy reserves for the period to
3llOBl2O27. As a result ofthe exceptional circumstances arlsing from Brexit and the covid-lg pandemic, the
Boarding Fund has been supported by a transfer of€1OO,OOO from General Unrestricted Funds for the financial
period ended 3l/0812024. The Head ot Boarding has been provided with a healthy marketing budget to
develop strong contacts with boarding agents and increase boarding student recruitment. As a result of these
measures, we aim to brinB the fund out of deficit by 2020.

Princioal Fu dinc Sources
The main sources of income for the year were: The E5FA, boarding provision, the lo(,l authority, community
and outdoor education courses and the Dallam School Charitable Trust.

lnvestment Policv

The Board of Trustees aims to ensure value for money when considering investment decisions whilst exercising
caution and ensurinS security of funds takes precedence over revenue maximisation. Any reserves are
currently held in a range of higher interest accounts with the multi academy trust's bankers.

Prlnclpal Rlsks and Uncertainties
The maior risks the multi academy trust is exposed to concern the real terms cut in funding by the Department
for Education. The multi academy trust mitigates these risks by preparing a 3 year bud8et forecast and closely
monitoring the budtetary position. The multi academy trust maintains a risk retister which is monitored on a
termly basis by the Rislq Audit & Finance Committee, established by the trustees.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Financial and Risk Manasement Obiectives and Policies

A budget for the period was atreed prior to the beginning of the accounting period. Management accounts

were presented at each termly Rislq Audit & Finance committee trustee meeting and income and expenditure

monitored against budget. All the MATS financial policies, systems and controls are disclosed in the MATS

Financial Regulations Manual.

Risk Manasement
The trustees have reviewed all major risks to which the MAT is exposed and systems have been establlshed to

mitigate those risk. A risk register has been produced, as per guidance in the Academy Trust Handbook which

demonstrates the results of the risk assessment process, The trust recognises and manages present and future

risk to ensure the effective and continued operation of Dallam School and will update its procedures

accordingly as and when further trust growth occuB. A contingency and business continuity plan has been

prepared to deal with crises that could face the MAT. The MAT has eff€ctive systems of internal financial

controls and this is explained in more detail in the statement on intemal control.

Trust Estate Manarement
Trustees have a responsibility to ensure the trust's estate is safe, well maintained and complies with relevant

regulations. The Trust has a lO year Land and Buildings plan that is reviewed by trustees at termly Risk, Audit

and Finance Committee meetinF. During the year trustees have approved the installation of additional solar

panels to reduce the school's carbon footprint and mitigate the risk of rislng energy costs.

Fundraisinq
During the period in question the Trust has not engaged professional fundraisers or commercial participators

to undertake any fundraising activities on lts behalf. The Trust has undertaken minor fundraising activities

which included a whole school sponsored walk, whereby students southt voluntary donations from parents,

careG and the local community. The development of a rigorous approach to external fundraising will be a

priority moving forwards.

Plans for Futurc Perlods

The South Westmotlond Mufti Acodemy Trust

MAT development - actively participate in what is a rapidly changint educational environment locally to
. ensure the SWMAT is able to secure School lmprovement Support in the immediate and next few years

for the benefits of students and staff.

People strategy - develop a strateSy that will ensure that the SWMAT retains its most able and talented
' staffand attracts the besttalent when rectuiting.

Environment - develop a strateSy that will ensure that the SWMAT is seen as being proactive in

reducing their environmental impact and ensuring that students leave with an understanding of
environmental issues facing local, national and international communities.

curriculum (K53/K54) - to develop a balanced, rigorout coherent, integrated, appropriate, focused and

relevant cuniculum offer, supported by high quality teachint and resources.

Sixth Form (including post-16 curriculum) - to build an attractive, relevant and forward-thinking
curriculum in our Sixth Form to retain and attract students to study with us post-16.

Community - agree a strategy to rEngate with our students, parents/@rert and local community to
ensure that Dallam School's current and future activities are seen in a positive light.
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SOUTH WESTMORI.AND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES'REPORT

YEAR EITDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Plans for Future perlods lcontinuedl

Dollom School

Deliye.in! ercellence
At the heart of our efforts is -The Da am way," driven by our five piflars of curture and the new pDev' team' we celebrate student success with rewards and praise, creating a positive learning environment.
our core 4 framework focuses on riteracy, assessmen! and feedback to crose attainirent gaps and
inspire a love of learning.

. Sustainint progress

we maintain hith standards throuth consistent routines and srAR principres, with rewards and
sanctions reinforcing positive behaviour. Do Now Activities ensure active participation, and our
professional development strentthens teamwork and dri\res school improvement.

. Explo.ing new opportunfties
we're buildint student resirience through growth mindset activities and weflbeing groups, whire
focusing on equarity of opportunity, particurarry for disadvantaged students. we aim to deepen
community connections and enhance parent engagement to foster belonging at Dallam.

Dollom Boording

. Fostering wellbelnt and comnuntty splrft
we are committed to improving student wellbeing by creating spaces for relaxation and reflection
within the boarding facilities. Regular wellbeing surveys will help monitor students,mental health and
ensure timely support. we will arso expand the peer mentoring slstem, offering more training and
opportunities for interaction. To foster a sense of community, we will celebrate acts of kindness and
host social events, while encouraging students to take leadership roles in proiects.

. Enhancing academic support and study hablts
we aim to strengthen communicition between teachers and boarding staff to better monitor academic
progress. Structured homework sessions with both academic and emotional support tvill be provided,
and consistent evening study routines will be encouraged. we urill recognise studentd efforts and
improvements, and offer tailored support plans for those with SEND, high prior attainment, or from
disadvantaged backgrounds, ensuring equal access to opportunities.

. Strengthenint communication and recrultment
Effective communication with families is vital. we will offer personalised updates through newsletters
and maintain clear contact during the admissions process. New boarders will receive strong onboarding
support, with check-ins at three and six months. We will also work with partner agents and explore new
recruitment strategies to expand our boardint community.

Each area of implementation will be supported by effective professional development, clear systems, reformed
leadership roles and responsibilities, policies and protocols, explicit communication, regular quality assurance
and modelled through behaviours of leaders.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

TRUSTEES.REPORT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Funds Held on Behalf of Others
The multi academy trust acts as a intermediary for the 15-19 Bursary fund, but has no responsibility, the trust
distributes the funds to students as an atent for the ESFA.

Auditol
ln so far as the trustees are aware:
. there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditor is unaware; and
. the trustees have tak€n all steps that they outht to have taken to make thems€lves aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware ofthat information.

Saint & Co Chartered Accountants were formally re-appointed by the Membe6 at a meeting of the Trust held

on 18th December 2024.

The Trustees' repoG incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the members of the board of
trustees on 18th December 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

MrA Gerrard
Chair of Trustees
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUITI ACADEMY TRUST

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

YEAR EIIDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Scope of Responsibllity
As trustees, we acknowledge that we have overall responsibility for ensuring that the south westmorland Multi
Academy Trust has an effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However such a system
is designed to manate rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectivet and can provide only
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE's Governance Handbook and competency
framework for governance.

The board of trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the accounting officer, for ensuring financial
controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial manatement and in accordance with
the requirements and responsibilities assiSned to it in the funding agreement between the South Westmorland
Multi Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. They are also responsible for reporting to the board
oftrustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control.

Govemance
The information on Sovernance included here supplements that described in the Trustees' Report and in the
Statement of Trustees' Responsibllities. The MAT Board has formally met 5 times during the year. Attendance
during the year at meetings of the board oftrustees was as follows:

Trustee

Mr S J Henneberry (Headteacher & Accounting Officer)

MrAJGerrard(Chair)
Ms C Alexander

Mrs E J Fraser

Mrs P A Houghton

Dr A J Knox

Mr M J Shevill

Mr R T Valliers-Smith

Meetings Attended Out of a posslble

Govemance Rerriew

Key chonges in the composition oI the Boord oI Trustees
The Trust Board lost two experienced trustees during the year. we have been able to recruit a Local Advisory
Commattee member with experience in finance and a former senior leader from the NHS with tovemance
experience to compliment our existing skill set on the Trust Board.

The coveroge of iE work
The Board conducted a detailed review of MATS in the area and held meetings with three ofthem. A decision was
made to work with Lunesdale Learning Trust, Kirkby Lonsdale and Kirkbie Kendal School trusts to develop a new
MAT for the South westmorland area. Unfortunately, the Lunesdale Learning Trust Board decided to pull out of the
development and as lead MATthis meant we had to abandon our plans.

lnternally the Board has focused on a small number of strategic areas which were covered in its meetings on
rotation. These areas are: MAT development; sixth form provision; recruitment and retention; community
engagement; environment and boarding.

The board works closely with senior officers to ensure financial probity. The Risk Register is reviewed on a regular
basis and boarding recruitment is followed closely.

5

5

1

5

5

5

4

5

5

5

1

5

4

5

3

5
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

The coveroge of iE wo* (continued)

The MAT Board closely monitors the progress of the School lmprovement Plan within Dallam School ensuring that
improvements move the school rapidly from Requires lmprovement to Good at its next OFSTED. Changes to
Boarding have ensured that the Boarding House is now rated as Good. The Board's close monitoring and support of
Boarding was recognised by the inspection team.

Across the financial year, the Board, working closely with senior officers, fulfilled its duty in ensuring financial
probity. Trustees have continued to have a focus on improvements in boarding and regular updates on boarding

recruitment and marketing activity have been provided to trustees and discussed in detail.

fhe boord's petormonce, including ossessment of its own elfectiveness ond ony potticulot chollenges thot hove

o sen for the gootd

The Board and its committees meet both virtually and face to face. A skills audit and the Chai/s 360 review has

taken place. There is a good mix of skills and experience within the board. lndividual Trustee interviews will take
place this year to identify any board improvements and training needs. The board is becoming increasingly

strategically focussed now the new Head, Deputy Headteacher and Senior Leadership Team are all in place.

Trustees are active in meetings challenging leaders and other Trustees in an open, honest way. The concept of
radical candour is often quoted.

lnlormotion obout the quolity of the doto used by the bootd, ond why the bootd tinds it occeptoble
The data provided to the MAT and Local Advisory Committee is of good quality and is provided in good time for
questions to be sent in advance of meetings. Changes to the data dashboard have made the Board's monitoring of
key areas much more affective. Safeguarding, Pupil Premium and SEND reports are all well-presented, using
standard formats,

The Self Evaluation Form and School lmprovement Plan structures have been improved; abstracts of the most
important and urgent activities are shown in a separate report for the MAT and Local Advisory Committee. Financial

reports have been tailored to suit the needs of the Local Advisory Committee to prevent duplication. Key

performance indicators are discussed increasingly within the context of local and national comparators where
available. Detailed reports on changes to budget allocations and \rariance are included for clarity and discussion.
Audit data is regularly discussed at termly meetings ofthe Rislg Audit & Finance Committee.

The Board has ensured that it has met regularly and the data it has used over the last year has therefore always
been up to date. Communication between trustees and senior officers has been very good; the Board of Trustees
met with officers 5 times between the lst September and the 31st August. An additional mid-year meeting between
the Chair and Vice Chair ofthe Board and the Board's Members also took place.

Confllcts of intercn
The Academy Trust has a number of processes in place to manage conflicts of interest. These include:
' The work ofthe Pay Review Committee to consider decisions about executive pay and benefits
' Recording trustees declaration of interest in meeting agenda items

Maintaining an up-to-date and complete register of interests, documented on the trust website and shared
' with finance staff to check before entering into contrads or procuring goods for the organisation

Ensure goods or services provided by related parties are at no more than cost
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SOUTH WESTMORI-AND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

GOVER]'IANCE STATEMENT

YEAR EilOED 3l AUGUST 2024

Meetings
To ensure trustees and senior leaders maintain robust oversitht of the academy trust, and tak€ full responsibility for
its financial affairs, stewardshlp of assets and use of resourc€s efficiently to maximise outcomes for students, the
Trust Board sets an annual calendar of meetings. During the 2023124 financial year the Trust Board met a totat of 5
times during the year and the Risk, Audit & Finance Committee met 3 times.

Risl<, Audit ond Finonce Commlttee
The Rislg Audit and Finance Committee is a subrommittee of the MAT Board. tts purpose is to assist the decision
making of the board of trustees by ensuring sound manatement of the multi academy trusfs finances, resources,
systems of internal control and risk profile, including proper planning, monitorint and probity. Attendance at
meetings in the year was as follows:

Trustee M€etn$Attended Out of a possible
MrMJshevill (Chair) 3 3
Mrs E .l Fraser 3 3
Mr AJ Gerrard 3 3
S J Henneberry (Headteacher & Accountint officer) 3 3
Mr R T Villiers-Smith 2 3

Review ofValue for Money
As Accounting officer the chief executive has responsibility for ensurint that the multi acad€my trust delivers good
value in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refeG to the
educational and wider societal outcomes, as well as estates safety and management, achie\red in retum for the
taxpayer resources received.

The Accountin8 officer considers how the trust's use of its resources has provided tood value for money during
each academic year, and reports to the MAT Board where value for money can be improved, including the use of
benchmarking data where available. The Accountint Officer for the multi academy trust has d€livered improved
value for money during the year by:

During the 2023124 academic and financial year the south westmorland Multi Academy Trust has undertaken a
number of initiatives to derive greater value for money from its operations r.vhilst also ensuring it provides the best
possible outcomes for its students. gelow a number of areas are highlighted along with specific examples of how
the trust has addressed each.

lmproving educational outcomes - the Trust has focussed on ensurint financlal stability with a rigorous business
strategy, a clear improvement and development plan for boardint and a focus on multi-academy trust growth that
improves outcomes for young people and families, and meets our vision, values and aims.

Financial Governance and oversight - the Trustees have strong oversight of the financial management of the MAT'S

budgets. The Risk, Audit and Finance Committee meet termly to review the financial position of the MAT, to receive
reports and challenge decisions, before reportint to the full board. ln addition to the annual external audit, a
separate firm of auditors were engaged to conduct an internal audit of flnancial controls, and an internal audit of
non-financial controls and risk management was carried out via a peer review, in accordance with best practice.
Evidence of the MATS ethos of obtaining value for money and adherence to systems of lnternal control is provided
in their termly reports submitted for scrutiny to the Rislq Audit and Finance Committee.
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUSI 2024

Reviff of Value for Monev ((orttlnuedl
Ensurint efticient and effective use of resources - the Trust ensures there is a continual focus on best value for
money and understands how assets can be used to maxlmise students' progress and outcomes. The Chief Finance

Officer takes care to ensure all purchases and contracts deliver value for money, using tendering to obtain at least

three quotes and challenging any ltem which does not deliver a clear benefit. Dallam School continues to work with
other local schools in the South Lakes Federation to undertake cost compadsons, particularly of contracted services,

which ensures value for money. The Chief Finance Offfcer is a member o, a local network of SBMS who meet
regularly to discuss issues affecting schools and to initiate procurement advantages where possible.

ReviewinS controls and managlng rlsks - the Risk Reglster is reviewed on a regular basis by the Risk, Audit and

Finance Committee to assess the likelihood and impact of risks and how these can be mitigated. The Chief Finance

Officer and Accountant review the budget and costs on a monthly basis and submit detailed reports to trustees.

Any significant variances and, in particular, changes to staffint costs are highlithted and addressed. Changes to staff
contracts are carefully planned and overseen by the Accounting Officer and any agreed increments endorsed by the
Trust Board wlthin the scope of the delegated responsibilities.

The Purpose of the System of lnternal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of
failure to achieve policies, aims and obiectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance

of effectiveness. The system of intemal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise

the risks to the achievement of the MATS policies, aims and objectivet to evaluate the likelihood of those risk
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efflciently, effectively and economicrlly.
The system of internal control has been in place in the South westmorland Multi Academy Trust for the year ended

31 August 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.

The Trust identifies risks, with r€ference to its risk register, and modifies its checks accordintly. where procedures

or systems haye changed, such as in the boarding provision, additional meetings have been convened to ensure a

suitable level of scrutiny is applied.

Capacity to Handle Risk

The board of trustees has reviewed the key risks to whlch the MAT is exposed totether with the operating, financial

and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The board of trustees is of the view
that there is a formal on-8oint process for identifyin& evaluating and manatint the Academ!,/s sitnificant risks that
has been in place for the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and
financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the board of trustees.

The Rlsk and Control Framework
The academy trusfs system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information and
administrative procedures includin8 the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability. ln
particular, it includes:
. Comprehensive budgeting and monitorin8 systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports which

are reviewed and agreed by the board oftrustees;
' Regular reviews by the Rislq Audit and Finance Committee of reports which indicate financial performance

against the forecasts and of major purchase plant capital works and expenditure programmes;

. Setting targets to measure flnancial and other performance;

. Clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines;

. Delegation of authority and segregation of duties;

. ldentificrtion and manatement of risks.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

lntemal Ssutiny
The board of trustees are aware of the revised FRC Ethical Standard for auditoG which states that a firm providing
external audit to an entity shall not also provide internal audit services to it. They have therefore considered the
need for a specific internal audit function and appointed Juniper Education as internal auditors to scrutinise and
report on the systems offinancial control for the year endad 31 August 2024.

ln addition, internal scrutiny of risk management and non-financial controls was deli\€red via a peer review by the
chief financial officer from another academy trust. The Trust appointed Antela Johnson, Chief Financial Officer of
the Lunesdale Leaming Trust to conduct the review, based on her independence from the Trust and experience.

The internal auditor's role includes Siving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the
Academy Trust's financial systems. Checks carried out in the current period included:

. testing of payroll systems;

. testing of purchases syst€ms;

. testing of bank reconciliations

On a termly basis the internal auditor reports to the Rislq Audit and Finance Committee on the operation of the
systems of controland on the discharte of the board of trustees' financial responsibilities.

The board oftrustees confirm that the internal auditor has worked with the Trust to deliver their schedule of work.

The board of trustees consider the two separate internal scrutiny reviews and subsequent reports, deliv€red by a
bought in internal audit service (financial controls) and an independent peer review by the chief financial officer
from a local academy trust (risk management and non-financial controls), deliver the best ev-aluation, advice and
insight into financial and non-financial controls and ensure all categories of risk are adequately identified, reported
and managed.

Review of Effectlyeners

The accounting ofltcer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of intemal control. During the
year in question the review has been informed by:

The work ofthe peer reviewer;

The work ofthe internal auditor
The work ofthe external auditor
The financial management and governance self-assessment process

The work of the executive managers within the academy trust who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance ofthe intemal control framework

The accounting officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal
control by the Risk, Audit and Finance Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement ofthe systems is in place.

Conclusion
Based on the advice ofthe Risk, Audit and Finance Committee and the Accountint Officer, the board of trustees is of
the opinion that the academy trust has an adequate and effective framework for tovemanEe, risk manatement and
systems of control.

Approved by order of the members ofthe board of trustees on 18th December 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

,r=L-1,
MrAJ MT SJ
Chair of Academy Trustees
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

STATEMENT ON REGUI.ARITY, PROPRIETY AND COMPTIANCE

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

As accounting officer of South Westmorland Multi Academy Trust, I have considered my responsibility to notify the
academy trust board of trustees and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity,
impropriety and non-€ompliance with terms and conditions of all funding, including for estates safety and

management, under the fundint atreement between the academy trust and the Secretary of State for Education. As
part of my consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook 2023,
includint responsibilities for estates safety and manatement.

I confirm that I and the academy trust board of trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use

of all funds by the academy trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the
academy trusfs funding agreement and the Academies Flnancial Handbook 2023.

I can conflrm that the followint instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been

discovered and notified to the board of trustees, ESFA and Action Fraud UK. lf any additional instances are identified
after the date ofthis statement, these will be notified to the board oftrustees and ESFA:

Flnandal lssues

A sum of E2,970 was paid incorrectly into a fraudulent bank account as a result of a phishing email to the
payroll department. This occurred on 0117212023.

The Trust referred this matter to the bank, the police and Action Fraud UK, and confirm that they have

reviewed their systems of internal control and strengthened them furtherto reduce the risk of this happening

again.

Signed

Mr S J H€nne
(Accountlng Officerl

Pate 18

I



SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES' RESPONSIBIT]TIES

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for preparing the Trustees' Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Academies
Accounts Direction published by the Education & Skills FundinS Agenc, LJnited Kintdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law the
trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs ofthe charitable company and of its incomint resources and application of resources, including
its income and expenditure, for that period. ln preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then applythem consistently
observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies AccounB Direction 2023 to
2024

makejudgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent
state whether applicable U( Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charitable company will continue in business.

The trustees are responsible for keeplnS adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
charitable compan/s transactions and disclose with reasonable accurircy at any time the financial position of the
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2OOG.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial
and other controlt which conform with the requirements both ofpropriety and of good financial managemcnt.
They are also responsible for ensurinB grants received from ESFA,,/DfE have been applied for the purposes intended.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United (ingdom goveming the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members ofthe board of trustees and signed on its behalf by:

MrAJ
Chair of Acadeny Truste6

t8 - tL-L4-' Date
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS TO THE

MEMBERS OF THE SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

Opinion
we have audited the financial statements of South westmorland Multi Aczdemy Trust for the year ended 31 August

2024 which comprise the Statement of Financial Adivities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the
financial statements, lncluding a summary of significant accountinE policies. The financial reporting framework that has

been applied in thelr preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standardt including FRS 102 The

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice).

ln our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view ofthe state of the charitable company's afFairs as at 3l August 2024 and of its incoming

resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with United KinSdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2019 and Academies Accounts Oirection 2023

lo 2024.

Basis for opinion
we conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditlng (UK) (lSAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Audito/s responsibilities for the audit ofthe financial

statements section of our report. We are independent ofthe charitable company in accordance with the ethical

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC'S Ethical Standard,

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We belleve that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relatlnt to going concem
ln auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees'use ofthe going concem basis of accounting

in the preparation ofthe financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the South Westmorland Multi Academy Trust's

ability to continue as a going concern for a perlod of at least 12 months from when the financial statements are

authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concem are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other infomation
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report including the trustees' report, other
than the financial statements and our audito/s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report. lt includes the Reference and Administrative Details, the Report of the Directors

and Strategic Repon and the Governance Statement. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance

conElusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is

materially inconsistent with the financial stiltements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated. lf we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether this gives rise to a material mlsstatement in the financial statements themselves. lf, based on the
work we have perrormed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

II{DEPENDENT AUDITOR.S REPORT ON THE FIT{A CIAL STATEMENTS TO THE

MEMBERS OF THE SOUTH WESTMORIIND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST (continued)

YEAR ETTIOED 31 AUGUST 2024

Oplnlon on other matteB prescribed by the Companles Act 2m6

ln our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit

the information given in the Report of the Trustees for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

the Report ofthe Trustees has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matte6 on srhich we are requiaed to report by exception

ln the light of the knowledge and understanding ofthe charitable company and its environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Report ofthe Trustees.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us

to report to you if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept or retums adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

the financial statements are not in atreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by lalv are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilhies of trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement ofTrustees Responsibilitiet the trustees (who are also the directoG ofthe
charitable company tor the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation ofthe financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is

necessary to enable to preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

ln preparint the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company's ability to
continue as a goinB concern, disclosin& as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.
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SOUTH WESTMORI.AND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

INDEPENDEiTT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE FINAT{CIAL STATEMENTS TO THE

MEMBERS OF THE SOUTH WESTMORIAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST (continued)

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Our responCblllues for the audlt of the ftnancial statements

Our obiectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to ftaud or error, and to issue a Report ofthe lndependent Auditors that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a hiSh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in

accordance with lSAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise ftom fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to inlluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis ofthese financial statements.

lrregularities, including fraud, are instances of nontompliance with laws and regulations. we desitn procedures in line
with our responsibilitiet outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irretularities, including fraud.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations, is detailed below:

. the engagement partner ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence,
capabilities and skills to ldentlfy or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

. we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the company through discussions with directors and other
managemenu

. we focused on specific laws and retulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the financial
statements or the operations ofthe company;

. we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through makint enquiries of
management and inspecting legal correspondence; and

. identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained alert
to instances of non{ompliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility ofthe company's financial statements to material misstatement, including obtaining an
unde6tanding of how fraud might occur, by:

. making enquiries of manatement as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge
of actual, suspected and alleted fraud;

. To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controlt we:
. prgrformed analytical procedures to identiry any unusualor unexpected relationships;
. tested journal entries to ldentify unusual transactions;
. assessed whether iudgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates set out in the

accounting policies were indicative of potential bias; and
. investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

ln response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures which
included, but were not limited to:

. agreeint financial statement disclosur€s to underlying supporting documentation;

. reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance;

. enquiring of manatement as to actual and potential litigation and claims; and

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and regulations
are from financial transactlons, the less likely it is that we would become aware of nonrompliance. Auditing standards
also limit the audit procedures required to identify nonrompliance with laws and regulations to enquiry of the
directoE and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.

Material misstatements that arlse due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as they may
involve deliberate concealment or collusion.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

INDEPENOENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE FIilAI{CIAL STATEMENTS TO THE

MEMBERS OF THE SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUITI ACADEMY TRUST (continued)

YEAR E]TDED 31 AUGUST 2024

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit ofthe financlal statements is located on the Financial

Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors
report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 15 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company's

members those matters we are required to state to them in an audito/s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and

the charitable company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

^rrd

B.A€.4Rnhei...l Jh. o,r.

Da Little (senior statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of

Saint & Co

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors
The Old Police Station
Church Street
Ambleside
Cumbria
LA22 OBT
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SOUTH WESTMOR1AND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

INDEPENDENT REPORTI]IIG ACCOUT{TANT'S ASSURANCE REPORT ON REGUIARITYTO THE SOUTH

WESTMORI.AND MUTTI ACADEMYTRUSTANDTHE EDUCATIOITI AND SKIIJ.S FUNDI]TG AGENCY

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

ln accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated l2ll1l2024 and turther to the requirements of the
Education and Skills Fundin8 Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2023 to 2024, we have

carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income received
by South westmorland Multi Academy Trust durint the perlod 01 September 2023 to 31 August 2024 have been
applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financlal transactions conform to the authorities which govern

them.

Respecttt € Responsibilities of the South Westmorland Multl Acrdemy Trust's Accounting Officer and th€ Reportlnt
Accountant
The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirement ofthe South Westmorland MultiAcidemy Trust's funding
agreement with the Secretary ofState for Education dated 01 August 2011and the Academies Financial Handbook,
extant from 1 September 2023, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govem them.

Our responsibilities for this en8agement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical guidance and
are to obtain limited assurance and leport in accordance with our enga8ement letter and the requirements of the
Academies Accounts Direction 2023 to 2024. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in carrying
out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbuBed and income received during the period

01 September 2023 to 3l August 2024 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial
transactions do not conform to the authorities which tovern them.

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reportint
Accountant of Academy Trusts issued by ESFA . we performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our
engaSement letter.

The obiective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on retularity

A limlted assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently
does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordintly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety ofthe
academy trusfs income and expenditure.

The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes

. the school resource management self-assessment checklist (SRMSAT) was obtained and considered;

. responses to the top 10 'musts' for chairs and other trustees from the AFH was obtained and considered;

. having a general awareness of regularity and propriety whilst conducting the statutory audit function;

. reviewing if extra-contractual severance payments have been made in accordance with the Handbook;

. reviewing if borrowing agreements, including leases to ensure they have been made in accordance with the
Handbook;

. reviewing the minutes of the meeting of the main committees during the year;

. reviewlnt expenditure to check that it was not ultra vires to the charitable objectives;

. obtaining trustee / governors declaration of interests;

. where present obtaining the accounting officer's file.
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

INDEPENDENT REPORNNG ACCOUNTANT'S ASSURANCE REPORT ON REGUIARITY TO THE SOUTH

WESTMORI.AND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST AND THE EDUCATION AND SKITI.S FUI{DING AGENCY

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Conclusion

ln the course of our work, except for the matter listed below nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in

all material respects the expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 01 September 2023 to 31 August

2024 has not been applied to purposes int€nded by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the
authorities which govern them.

Matter 1:

As rererred to within the Accountint Officer's Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance there was an

identified fraudulent transaction during the year. A sum off2,970 was paid incorrectly into a fraudulent bank account

as a result of a phishing emailto the payroll department. This occwrcd on Olh2l2023.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to South Westmorland Multi Academy Trust and ESFA in accordance with the terms of our
engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to South Westmorland Multi Academy Trust

and ESFA those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent p€rmitted

by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than South Westmorland MultiAcademy Trust and
ESFA, for our work, forthis report, or for the conclusion we have formed.

Little (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of

Saint & Co

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors
The Old Police Station
Church Street
Ambleside
Cumbria
LA22 OBT

t&. ... Date
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SOUTH WESTMORLAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAT ACNVMES (INCORPORATING THE INCOME AND EXPEND]TURE ACCOU TT}

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Unrestrlccd
Funds

Note f

Restrlctcd
General

Funds

I

Restlicted
Fired Asset

Funds

f

Yeaa

Ended
31Aug 2l

E

Year
Ended

3l Aug 23
e

lncone and endowm€nts from:

Donations and capital grants

Chotito ble o ctivities :

- Funding for the academy trust's
educational operations
- Provlsion of boarding activities

Other tradint activities
lnv€stment income
Total

Expendlture on:
Ralslng funds
Cho titoble o ctivities :

- Academy trust educational operations
- Provision of boardinS activities

Total

7,202,O11
1,193

1,202,O17

174,892
24,W5

23,637 129,097 180,184

7,473,202 7,599,430

2

3

2A

4
5

105,450

298,t54 7,775,038

773,699
24,N5

601,328 8,378,242 23,637 9,0o3,207

7

8
8128

6

14r,951

333,2ss 324,529
343,935

141,961 129,855

5,850,345
1,128,061

7,522,729
t,477,997

7,736,709
1,762,772

Net lmome / (erpend lture)
before transfeB
Transfers between funds
Net lncome/(expenditurel for the year

(Xh.r recognlsed gains / (lo6sesl

Actuarial (losses)gains on defined benelit
pension scheme

et morement ln tunds
ttl22

Reconcllledoo of lunds
Total funds brought forward at 0l September 2023
Total funds canled
foruard at 31 August 202/f

475,276 7,988,q6 672,465 9,135,087 9,629,346

11

126,172
(51,561)

389,835
(158.2161

(648,828)

219,777

(132,880) (581,816)

64,551 231,620 l429,O5tl (132,880) (581,815)

(1s,000) (1s,mo) 1,071,000
64,ss1 2L6,62O (429,0s1) (147,880) 489,184

407,591 332,9!19 10,/$5,657 11,226,247 70,137,063

472,142 549,619 10,055,606 f ,074,367 77,226,247

All of the academys activities derive from continuing operations during the above two financial periods.

A Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses is not required as allthe gains and losses are included in the Statement of
Financial Activities.
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

BA1ANCE SHEET

3l AUGUST 2024
2024

Note C

t2 1o,364,279

EEf
Fired assets
Tangible assets

3,894
886,290

L,ML,467

3,599
759,619

1,560,215

2021

10,987,548

916.656
11,904,304

(39O0s7)

10,818,656

q7.sgt
17,226,247

Current assets

Stock
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

13

t4

15

Liabilities
Creditors: amount falling due within one year

2,337,651

(1,268,280)

2,323,s33

(1,4o]6,8771

et current assats
Total Asels less current liabilities

1,053,371
71,427,650

(187,283)Creditors: amount falling due after more than one year 16

et assets excludint pension asset / liability
Defined benefit pension scheme asset / (liability)
Total Net As€ts

22
tt,2&,367

(162,000)

n,o7aJ67

Funds of the academytrust :

Rest cted tunds
Fixed asset funds
Generalfunds
Pension reserve

Total restricted funds
Unrestricted lncome fu nds

Generalfunds
Total unrestrlcted fu nds
Total tunds

M]RT lliers-Smith

Company Registration Number: 07646748

t7
77

t7
t7

10,056,606
77,.,679

(162,000)

10,485,657
614,999

(282,000)

t7 472,142

MrSJ

1o,606,225

472,142
11,o74367

(Accounti officerl

407,591

The financial statements were approved by the governort and authorised for issu e on E.rtUUnbld-.@ana
signed on their behalf by:

J
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

STATEMEI{T OF CASHFTOWS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Recondllatlon of net lncome / lergenditurel to net cashf,ow ftom operatin! activities

Net income / (expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the statement of flnancial

activities)

Adjusted fot:
lnterest receivable
(Profit) / Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Depreciation
capital grants from DfE/ESFA

lnterest on finance lease rental payments

Decrease/(increase) in stocks
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
lncrease/(decrease) in creditors
Decrease/(increase) in salix loans included in above
Defined benefit pension scheme costs less contributions payable.

Defined benefit pension scheme net finance costs

Net Gash proyided by / (used inl operadnt activities

Year
Ended

31 Aug 24
E

Year
Ended

31 Aug Zl
E.

(132,880) (581,816)

(240os)
(233)

672,209

.23,6371
96,382

(1es)

lt26,67tl
(1s3,0s3)

74,456
(151,0O0)

16,000
ral 373

(3384)
225

69s,320
(73,3371

96,382
tp67

745432
ls6t,272l

6,061
(6epoo)
63,000

Cashflours from investlng activities
Receipts from sale oftangible fixed assets

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets

C-apital grants from DfE/ESFA

lnterest received
lnterest on finance lease rental payments

Net cesh provided by / (used inl investnt activities

cashnows from financing actMties
Receipts from Salix loans

Repayments made on Salix loans
Capitalelement of finance lease rental payments

Net cash provided bv / (us€d inl financlng activities

ln(,ease / (Decrease) in c.sh in the yeal

Reconcllladon of net cash flow to moyement in net funds
lncrease/(decrease) in cash in the period

C"ash and (,sh equivalents at I September 2023
Cash and cash equivalents at 3l August 202/f

Amlysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand and at bank
Total cash and cash cqutvelents

Analysl3 of changes in net debt

417
(49,0241

23,637
24,005

(95,382)

3ta,67A

lL3sA92l
71337
3,384

(96.3821

197,3471 (1ss,1s3)

(6,061)
(194^318)

|'208,7741 (20037e)

(14,4s6)
(194318)

(118,748) (36"8s4)

(118,748)

1,550,21s

(368s4)
1,597,069

1,441,467 1,560215

1 S€p 2023
E

1,560,215

Cash f,ows
2

(118,748)

31 AW 2024
E

1,441A67
1,560,215 (118,748) 1,44,-,467

l Sep 2023 Cash flows ,{ew
agteements

E

Other non-
cash changes

€

(14,4s6)
14,456

lL AJtg2024

C

1,4tt1,47
(14,4ssl

l7t,g29l
1to7,67?l

cash
Loans falling due within one year

Loans falling due after more than a year
Finance lease obligations
Total

€
1,56(),215

(14,455)
(88,385)

(501,991)

E

(118,748)
14,456

194,318
s,o259s5,384
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINA]ICIAI STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

1. Statement of A.muntlng Policies

A summary ofthe principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where noted),
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

General lnformation
The academy trust is a public benefit entity and a private company limited by guarantee, registered in England and
wales and is an exempt charity. The address of the registered office is Dallam School, Milnthorpe, Cumbria, tA7 7DD

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the entity

Basis of preparation
The frnancial statements of the academy trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared

under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and
Republic of lreland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reportint by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice

applacable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial ReportinS Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of lreland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2023 to 2024
issued by ESFA the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006.

The trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

Going concem
The trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the company to
continue as a going concern. The trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from the
date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the academy trust has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties
about the academy trusfs ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

lncomint rcsources
All incoming resources are recognised when the academy trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is probable
and the amount can be measured reliably.

Grants recehrable
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income received
for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the rele\rant funds on the balance sheet.
where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is not unconditional
entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred lncome untilthe
performance-related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is

accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is

receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability.

Capitalgrants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts of
capital grants are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are recognised
when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life ofthe asset on which they are expended.

Donations
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where the
receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUIT! ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

l. Statement ot Accountlng Policies ,Corrtirrcd,

Other income

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the extent the
academy trust has provided the goods or services.

Donated goods, facllltles and services
Donated toods, facilities and services. Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, bein8 the expected
proceeds from sale less the expected costs of sale. lf it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt it is

recognised in stock and 'lncome from other trading actMtieJ. Upon sale, the value ofthe stock is charged against
'lncome from other trading activities'and the proceeds are recognised as'lncome from other trading activities'.
where it is impractical to fair value the items due to the volume of low value items they are not recognised in the
financial statements until they are sold. This income is recognised within 'lncome from other trading activities'.

Donated flxed assets

Where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this
reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be us€d. The gain is recognised as income from
donations and a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate flxed asset category and depreciated over
the useful economic life in accordance with the academy trust's accounting policies.

Herled income
Grants and other funding received for the Academy's educational activities for a period spanning the year end are
deferred pro-rata to the relevant periods in order to match the fundant to the period in which the costs of charitable
activities are incurred.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third
party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will b€ required in settlement and the amount of the
obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of
the total ot direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs

attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one
activity and support costs which are not attrlbutable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on
a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and
depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset's use.

E:eenditura on Ralslnt Funds

This includes all expenditure incuned by the acidemy trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes and includes
costs ofall fundraisin8 activities events and nonrharitable trading.

Charttable acthrftles
These are costs incuned on the academy trust's educational operationt including support costs and costs
relating to the tovernance of the academy trust apportioned to charitable activities.

All resources expended are exclusive of irrecoverable vAT.
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SOUTH WESTMORI.AND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

1. Statement of Arcountint Policies (Cortiaued l

Tangibl€ fired assets

Tangible fixed assets transferred on conversion to Academy status have been included in the accounts at valuation

Land and buildings are classed as long leasehold lf there is over 50 years unexpired lease term at the balance sheet
date.

Tangible fixed assets since the Academy was established are included in the accounts at cost, net of depreciation and

any provision for impairment.

Sintle assets costint less than E2,O0O or similar groups of assets purchased or ordered together o, less than €2,000
are written off in the year of purchase.

where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or from
the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected useful

economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the fundint requiring the continued use of the asset,

the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities and carried
forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset

fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with unrestricted
funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated so as to write oft the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value, over the useful
economic life of that asset as follows:

Freehold buildings
Long leasehold buildings
Long leasehold land
Short leasehold land & buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
ICT equipment
Motor vehicles

- straight line over the estimated economic life (24 to 53 years)
- straight line over the estimated economic life (31 to 60 years)

- straight line over the remainint life ofthe lease
- straight line over the remaining life ofthe lease
- straitht line over the ertimated economic life (10 to 32 years)
- straight line over 5 years

- straight line over 4 years

- 25% reducing balance

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost; depreciation on these assets is not charged until they are
brought into use.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or chantes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carryint value of fixed assets and their
recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. lmpairment losses are recognised in the Statement of
Financial Activities.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

The total depreciation charge is allocated to direct costs and support costs pro-rata to the number of employees

A full years depreciation is charged in the year of purchase and no charge is made in the year of disposal
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

l. Statement of Accountlng Pollcies (Coathued l

Liabilities
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it is

probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can

be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the academy trust anticipates it will pay to settle
the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods or services it must provide.

Public Benefit Enttty ConcesConary Loans

Public benefit entity concessionary loans shall initially be measured at the amount received and recognised in the
statement of financial posltlon. ln subsequent years, the carrying amount of concessionary loans in the financial
statements shall be adiusted to reflect any accrued interest payable.

Ptovisions
Provisions are recognised when the academy trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past event
which it is probable will result in the transfer ofeconomic benefits and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the oblitation. Where the effect of
the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts, discounted at the
pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liabllity. The unwinding of the discount is recognised within
interest payable and similar charges.

Finance lease agreements
Where the academy enteG into a lease which entails takint substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership ofan
asset, the lease is treated as a finance lease. The asset is recorded in the balance sheet as a tanSible fixed asset and
is depreciated in accordance with the above depreciation policies. Future instalments under such leases, net of
finance charges, are included within creditors. Rentals payable are apportioned between the finance element, which
is charged to the SOFA at a constant rate of charge on the balance of capital repayments outstandinB, and the
capital element which reduces the outstanding oblitation for future instalments.

Leas€d assets

Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risk of ownership remain with the
lessor are charged against profits on a straight line basis over the period ofthe lease.

Financial Instruments
The academy trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRs 102. The financial assets and financial
liabilities ofthe academy trust and their measurement basis are as follows:

Fioonciol ossets - trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at
amortised cost as detailed in the notes. Prepayments are not financial instruments.

Cash at bank - is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value

Finonciol liobilities - trade creditors, accruals and other creditoG are financial instruments, and are measured at
amortised cost as detailed in the notes. Taxation and social security are not induded in the financial instruments
disclosure definition. Oeferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already
taken place and there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or another financial instrument.

Stod(
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making due allowance for obsolete and dow
moving items.
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULTT ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

1. Stat€ment of Accounting Policies (Cort rued I

Taxatlon
The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2O1O and
therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK taxation purposes.

AccordinBly the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received
within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2O1O or Section 250 of the Taxation of
Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.

Pensions Benefrts
Retirement benefits to employees of the academy trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme (fps') and
the Local Government Pension s€heme ('LGPS'). These are defined benefit schemes and the assets are held
separately from those ofthe academy trust.

Teachers' P€nsion Scheme
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated to spread the cost of pensions over employees'
working lives with the academy trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of
current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the 6overnment Actuary based on
quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. TPS is an unfunded multi€mployer scheme with no
underlyang assets to assiSn between employeB. Consequentl% the TPS is treated as a defined contribution scheme
for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which they relate.

Local Government Pension Sdreme
The LGPS is a funded muhi-€mployer scheme, and the assets are held separately from those of the academy trust in
separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured
on an actuarial basis using the pOected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the curent rate
of return on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations
are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts charged to net
income/(expenditure) are the current servlce costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes,
settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises the interest cost on
the defined benefit obli8ation and interest income on the scheme assett calculated by multiplying the fair value of
the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the b€n€fit obligations. The difference
between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is recotnised in other
recognised gains and losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.

Fund accountlnt
Unrestricted funds reflect those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the objects of the Academy at
the discretion ofthe trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds reflect the fixed assets and capital trants for the purchase of fixed assets to be used for
charitable purposes.

Restricted general funds comprise grants, including the General Annual Grant (GAG), and other funding for
educational purposes and any voluntary income to be used for specific purpos€s.

The Local Govemment Pension Schem€ deficit is recognised a8ainst restricted general funds in order to match it
against the GAG, in accordance with ESFA guidance.

Details of restricted and unrestricted funds are shown in the notes to the financial statements
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

I{OTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

1. Statement ot Accountlng Polkies (Cortiaued l

Agency Arangements
The academy trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 bursary funds from ESFA. Payments received from EFA and

subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the statement of financial activities as the trust does not
have control over the charitable application of the funds. The trust can use up to 5% of the allocation towards its

own administration costs and this is recognised in the statement of financial activities. The funds received and paid

and any balances held are disclosed in the notes.

c'ldcal accountiru estlmates and areas of iudgement
Estimates and judgements are contlnually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,

includin8 expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Citicol occounting estimates, dssumptions ond judqements

The academy trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resultint accounting estimates and

assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financialyear are discussed below.

. The present value of the Local Govemment Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of
tactors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in

determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions,

which are disclosed in the notet will impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll

forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022 has

been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 Augun 2024. Any differences between the fi8ures

derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount ofthe
pension liability.

. The annual depreciation charge is sensitive to the estimated useful economic lives of property, The useful

economic lives of property, plant and equipment is initially based on the professional valuers report using their
judgement and experience. The useful economic lives are assessed annually and changed when necessary to
reflect current thinking on their remaining liyes.
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SOUTH WESTMORLAND MULT! ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2. Donations and capital grants

ESFA Capital grants

Capitalgrants
Donations
Dallam School Charitable Trust Donation

Less Boarding Capital Grants

2023 total

3. Funding for Academy's educational operations

DfE / ESFA grdnts

General Annual Grant (GAG)

General Annual Grant (GAG) - Post 16

Other DfE / ESFAgrants
Pupil Premium
Teachers pay grant
Teachers pension grant

Schools supplementary grant
Mainstream schools additional grant
Recovery premium grant
National tutoring programme
Other ESFA grants

Other DfE Group grants

Less Boarding exceptional circumstances funding

Other Government grants
Local Authority Funded Statements
Other Local Authority Grants

School Fund lncome
Catering
Other Educational Operauons

Educational Activities and Visits
Community & Outdoor Education

Other

2023 total

Unaenricted
Funds

f

Restricted
Funds

e
23,637

Year
Ended

31 Aug 24
C

23,637

2,460
103,q)o
729,O97

Year
Ended

3l Aug 23
c
73,337

2,460
103,000
105,460

3,U7
103,000

23,637 180,184

105,46q

73,337 180,184

Unrenricted
Funds

€

Restricted
Funds

€
5,547,323

827,700

Year
Ended

3l Aug 24
f

5,54t,323
427,7N

750,O42
91,78L
43,766

Year
Ended

3l Aug 23
€

5,34O,327
942,904

155,525150,o42
97,787
43,766

La2,O25

34,776
2,574

50,534

7A2,026
34,776
2,574

50,534

33,085
L55,307
75,U4
36,708

&235
53,9s7

6,964,522 6,9U,522 6,A07,886
(290,700) (290,700)290,700)

6,673,822 6,673,422 6,511,185

118,453
69,736

188,189

150,853
D,7AA

150,853
77,788

764, 1 168,641

293,779

4,985

291,830

7,167

33,578 33,578
293,t79

291,830

72,152

35,77 4
25&933

150,820

445,L24

7,175,038 7,473,202 7,599,430

275,927 7,323,503
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FII{ANCIAI STATEMEI{TS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

4. Other trading actlvltles

Sports Lettings

other Lettings
lnsurance receipts
lnsurance receipts - Boarding
lnsu6nce receipts - Trips

Staff insurance receipts
Service Provision

Less Boarding insurance receipts

2023 total

5. lnvestment lncome

Bank lnterest Receivable

2023 total

Unrestri(ted
Funds

f
85,779
11,530

76,450
173,599

Restricted
Funds

e.

Year
Ended

31AW 24
f
45,779
11,530

1,193

Year
Ended

31 Aug Zl
f
70,105
15,013

9001,193

76,450 67,371
1,193 174,892 153,389

t73,699 1,193 174,892 153,389

752,49 900 153,389

Unrestricted
Funds

f
24,@5

Restricted
Funds

E

Year

Ended
31 Aug 24

t
24,OO5

Year

Ended
3l Aug 23

E

3,3U
24,@5 24,OO5 3,384

3,384
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

6. Expenditure

Academyrs educational op€rations
Direct costs
Allocated support costs
Educational activities

and school fund costs

Provislon of boarding activities
Direct costs
Allocated support costs

on Pay Ereenditure
Premises Other Costs

CC

Staff
Costs
t

Year
Ended

31 Au! 2{
f

4,960,745
2,233,42L

Year
Ended

31 Aug 23

f

Expenditure on raising funds 713,070 28,891 - 747,967 129.865

4,/l81,032
1,o27,764

744,U9
582,159

334,85s
629,498

4,901,8L7
2,649,47L

327.962
5,502,796 727,OOA L,292,325

327,962 185,421
7,522,729 7,736,709

151,868 151,868 748,r3L
535,706 460.740 323,683 1,3201,729 1.514,647
535,706 612,608 323,683 1,477,997 7,762,772

5,151\572 1,35E 5O7 1,616,008 9,136,087 9,629,345

This is stated after charging:
Depreciation
Loss / (profit) on disposal of fixed assets
Operating leases
Fees payable to auditor - audit ofthe financial statements

- other assurance services
- other services

7. Expendhure on raisint funds

2023 totat jor-i-r3=-

lncomlng/outgoint resources for the perlod

Teaching and educational support staff
Support staff costs
Maintenance of premises and equipment
Rent and rates
Heat and light
Catering
Printing, postage, stationery & photocopying
Advertising
Licence & affiliation fees
Other support costs

270 1.897.142 9,629,346

Yeal
Ended

31 Aut 24
E

672,2@
(233)

9,(x)1
14,180
2,393

1

Year
Ended

31Aut 23
e

695,320
225

38/,,821
13,000
2,490

-9914-_199M9-
Unrestricted

Funds

e

Restrlcted
Funds

f

Year
Ended

31 Aug 2tl
E

Year
Ended

31 Aut 23
E

72,692
100,378
t7,o

77,42t

72,692
700,378
tL,064

fi,427

11,405

92,t30
71,746

14,584

741,967 1 47,961

129.86s2023 total
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

TIIOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDEO 3l AUGUST 2024

8. CharltableAcriYities

Dhect costs - educatlonal operations
Teaching and educational support staff
Depreciation
Loss on disposaloffixed assets
Books, apparatus and stationery
Staff development
Examination fees
Educational consultancy
Academic intervention and tutoring

Dlrect costs - boarding

Allocated support costs - educational operations
Suppon staff costs

Depreciation
(Profit) / Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Recruitment and support
Maintenance of premises and equipment
Maintenance CIF

Professional fees
Legalfees
Cleaning
Rent and rates
Heat and light
lnsurance
Transpon
Caterint
Printing, postage, stationery & photocopying
Advertising
l-icence & affiliation fees
Telephone
Bank charges
Technology costs
Other support costs

Support costs - boarding

Educational actMtles and sdrool fund costs
Educational activities
Educational activities staff costs
School Fund expenditure

Support costs - govemance

Legalfees
Professional fees
Support staff costs
Net finance costs in respect of

defined benefit pension schemes
Auditors remuneration

Audit of the financial statements
Other costs

Total dlrect and support costs

2023 total

151,868 151.868 1/8.131
5,112.614 5,049,9/85,112,6L4

Unrestrlcted
Funds

e

Restricted

Funds

€
4,487,O32

144,952
(103)

84,361
16,202

119,893
23,392
9L,OL7

Year Ended

31Aug 24
E

4,481,O32
144,952

(103)

84361
t6,202

119,893

23,392
9l,ol7

Year Ended

31Aut 23
C

4,357,230
757,984

99
84,030
24,734

138,006
43,482
92,852

817

r$,612

188,205

1,438

878,L52
183,321

(130)

24,970
167,288

1,O21,7il
183,321

(130)

24,91O

167,284

7,087,O14

2@,866
726

33,254
135,913

7,877
26,971

7,9

4,877
71,188
80,060
28,469

389,789
275,268

31,726
20,522
65,006
72,302
14,806

104,498
14,150

23,369
20,o23
L0,334
59,016

1L0,770
28,19L
I,132

59,694
33,502
32,598
77,263
I,M7

L4,7@
L71,129

6,190

23,369
20,o23
10,334

59,016
t70,770
24,797
8,L32

247,899
33,s02
32,s98
77,263
a,q7

14,7O9

111,129
7.624

2,190,123333,255 1,856,868 2,554,526
1,320,729 129 7,674,@7

333.2ss 3,176,997 3.510,252

-9!S9e150,820

34601

291,830

36,732

291,830

36,132

327.962 127 .962 185,421

LO,725 70,725 16,455

16,000 16,000 53,000

14,180

2,393
14,180
2,393

13,000

2,490
43,298 43,298 94.945

333,255 8,660,871 8,994,126 9,499,1181

377,498 9
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FII{ANCIAI STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

9. Staff costs and employee benefits

Staff costs during the period were:
Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Operating costs of defined benefit pension schemes

Other employee benefits
Apprenticeship levy

Supply staff costs
Staff restructuring costs

Staft restructuring costs comprise

Redundancy payments

Severance payments

Other restructuring costs

Teachers

Administration and support
Management

Year
Ended

31 Aug 24
f

4,525,719
444,437
994,679

5,973,083
L29,gtl

--l/j-
6,751,572

Vear
Ended

31 Aut 23

E

4,358,674
435,264
983,591

5,784,974
260 108

46,972

7-8/,a 7385

6,091,9:t4

7,1o9
39,803/l8,578

46,972

Severance payments

The academy trust paid five severance payments in the year, disclosed in the following bands:
2024
Itlo

0 - €25,000
825,001 - €50,000
€50,001 - f100,000
f100,001 - €150,000
€150,ofi)+

Special staff seyerance payments - Non st tutory/non-contractual Staff severance payments

lncluded in staff restructuring costs are non-statutory / nonrontractual severance payments totalling f48,578
(2023: f2,00O). hdividually, the payments were: f 17,683, f 15,3@, E7,7@,85,a35, E2,O@-

Staff numbers
The average number of persons employed by the Academy during the period was as follows:

5

5

2024
No

59
86

9

61

89

9

2027
No

154 159

Page 39
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

Higher paid statf
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs and employer national
insurance contributions) exceeded f60,00O was:

2024 2023
No No

t60,001
f70,001
f80,001
€90,001

f70,000
€80,000
f90,000
€100,000

7 5

Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the academy trust comprise the trustees and the senior management team as

listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions) received by
key management personnel for their services to the academy trust was:

3

1

;

2

3

2

zo24
t

904,266

202t
t

792,782Senior Management Team
Staff Governors

904,266 792,782
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

10. Central Services

No central services were provided by the multi academy trust to its academies during the period and central

charges arose.

11. Fund Transfe6

During the period the following transfers were made between funds

Transfers to / from General Annual Grant funds are analysed below;

Fixed asset additions in the year purchased by GAG

Transferred from general annual grant funds to the unrestricted catering
fund to cover the overspend in the current period on the provision of
caterinB to the academy's pupils.

Net transGr to / Itrom) General Annual Grant funds

Transfers tofrom the general unrestricted funds are analysed below:

Transfer to community and outdoor education to cover overspend
Transfer from unrestricted funds to boarding restricted fund

Net transfer to / (ftoml unrest cted gene.al funds

Transfers to the restricted fixed asset fund analysed below

Fixed asset additions in the year purchased by GAG

Fixed asset additions in the year purchased by DFC

Fixed asset additions in the year purchased by Eoardint
Proceeds from sale of assets used to purchase additions
Total net additions during year

Transfer from the boarding restricted generdl fund
To cover depreciation charge on finance lease

School contribution on CIF electrical upgrade project 3
School contribution on CIF electrical upgrade project 4

Transfer from school unrestricted funds
Transfer from General Annual 6rant funds

School contribution on CIF electrical proiect
Transfers to / from ESFA DFC funds
Proceeds from sale of assets

(6,Ls7l
(38,639)

(44/8361

(10o,20o)

(100,2001

6,797

23,749
t9,262

416
19,O4

194,318

(23,7491
(416)

Total transfer to restricted fixed assets funds 2,r9,777

For transfers in relation to the restricted fixed asset finance lease fund please reter to the boarding trading account

note to the accounts.

Pate 41
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

12 Tangible Fixed Asets (continuedl

Finance lease agre€ments
lncludedwithinthenetbookvalueof€10,3,279(2O23i8LO,987,648)is€518,965(2023: €832,976) relatint to
assets held under finance lease atreements. The depreciation charyed to the flnancial statements in the year in
respect of such assets amounted to f333,273l7073t E325,AO71.

L€ase arrangements
The academy has a 15 year lease with the Dallam School Charitable Trust for the use of the Heversham boarding
site, which expires on 23 March 2026.

During the year ended 3l August 2018 the academy entered into a 9 year lease with the Dallam School Charitable
Trust for the use ofthe Community Centre at the Milnthorpe site, which expires on 23 March 2026.

During the year ended 31 Au8ust 2022 the academy entered into a 3 year peppercom lease with the Dallam
School Charitable Trust for the use of Heversham St Peters C of E School, Leasgill, which expires on 14 February
2025.

13. Stock 2024
E

2,994Catering
Educational supplies
Stationery
Other 900

2023
f
2,799

900

14. Debtors

Trade debtors
VAT recoverable
Prepayments
Accrued income
Other debtors

3_894

20iu
C

402,877
72,700

364,565
34,898
11,250

3.599

2021
E

3&,320
54,065

331,644
33,590

lncluded within prepayments is an amount of t290,700 (2023: f290,700) which relates to a years rent for the
boarding house paid in advance.

Page 43
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

15, Credftors: amounts lalling due wlthln one year

Trade creditors
Taxation and social security
Sundry creditors
EFA creditor
Salix l-oans

Accruals

Deferred income
Boarding deposits
Finance leases due within one year

Helred income

Deferred income at 01 September 2023
Resources deferred in the year
Amounts released from previous years

Deferred income at 31 August 2024

Deferred income comprises:
Boarding income in relation to the next financialyear
School income for future trips
LA funded statements for September to March in the next financial year

EFA Rates rebate
Pupil bus passes for the next academic year

Community education Autumn term fees for the next financialyear

2024
€

83,040

23,807

3,794
74,455
85,092

759,rrc5
L04,361
194,319

202t
E

197,769

1,268,280

2024
e

634,306
759,405

(634,306)

2021
e

855,522
634,306

(8ss,s22)
759,405 634,306

671,188
60,820

565,645
42,91O

27,397 25,757

759,&s 534,306

lncluded within creditors are public benefit concessionary loans (Salix loan) from the ESFA which is provided on the
following terms. Repayable by instalments over 8 years with payments in arrears and are interest free.

15. Cr€ditors: amounE fal[nt due after more than one ylar

Salix Loans

Finance leases due after more than one year

2024
e

?3,929
113,354
747,283

2021
C

88,385
307,672
396,0s7

2023
t
3s,690

The finance lease is secured over the boarding facilities.

The following aggregate liabilities disclosed under creditors falling due after more than one year are due for
repayment after more than five years from the balance sheet date:

2024
E

24,489Salix Loans

Finance leases
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINAI{CIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

17. Funds

Renricted Fired Asset Funds
Fixed Assets used for
Charitable purposes

Other
Boarding

Finance lease fund
ESFA formula capital fund
ESFA condition improvement fund

Electrical - Milnthorpe
Electrical- Leasgill

Electrical - Boarding House
Electrical - Sports Hall

Non ESFA Capital project
Other CapitalGrants

Restrlcted General Funds
DIE / ESFA Revenue Grunls

General Annual Grant (GAG)

Pupil Premium
Teachers pay grant
Teachers pension grant
Schools supplementary grant
Mainstream schools additional grant
Recovery premium grant
National tutoring programme

Other DfE/ESFA Grants
Other Govemment Gronts

Local Authority Funded Statements
Other Local Authority Grdnts

Boordlng Fund
Schoot Funds

Oth er trading octiv ities
Oth e r Ed u cqtio no I O Fe rotl ons

Educational Activities and Visits
Community & Outdoor Education
Other

21,637 (488)

10,485,657 23,63't 1672,4651 279,777 10,056,606

Balance at
0l-S€p

t

10,129,035
858,613

(50r,991)

896,125

(371,068)

89,942

674,999

(282,00O)

lncoming
rcsources

f

Resources

e4€nded
E

Gains, Losses

and Transfers
€

Balance at
31-Aut

C

(328,041)
(343,936)

29,346
79,262

194,318

123,1491

9,830,340
533,939

(307,673)

6,O78,123

150,o42
9\7At
83,766

782,026
34,776
2,s74

50,534

150,853

17,784
r,202,o11

33,574
7,L93

(s,894883)
(1s0,042)

{91,781)
(83,756)

lL82,026l
1t4,7761

l2,s74l
(s0,s34)

(1s0,8s3)
(17,788)

(1,128,06r)
(3O132)

(1,193)

(44,836) 1,034,729

(113,380) (410,498)

87,388

291,830 (291,830)

7,767 17,t671

Restricted Pension Reserve Funds
Pension reserve

837A,242 (8,123,406)

135,@0

(158,216)

(1s,0o0)

711,679

(162,000)

Total Restricted Funds

Unrestrlcted Funds
General Unrestricted Funds

Designated Sports Fund
Catering Fund

Total Unrestricted Funds

221,698 222,430
185,893 85,719

--3ffg2-

407,597 6OL32A

177,8871 (10O,20o)
(6s,s11)

(331,818) 38,539
(475,2161 (61,551)

332,999 837a,242 JzegwgtJlz;urgL 
-!Er9!9-

266,Ul
206,707

472,742

9,0[.3,207Total Funds 11,226,247
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

]{OTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024
17. Fl,,,,l,ds lconttnuedl

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the academy trust was not subjed to a limit on the
amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2023.

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows

General Annual Grant IGAGI fund
This represents the core fundint for the educational activities ofthe school that has been provided to the academy
via the Education & Skills Funding Atency (ESFA).

Pupil Premlum
This represents ,unding paid by the DfE to support disadvantaged students in their teaching and learning, with the
aim of improving their attainment and closing the gap with their less disadvantaged peers.

T€achers pay and pension trafits
Teachers pay grant is provided to support teacher pay awards. Teachers pension grant is provided to support the
increase in employer contributions to the Teachers' Pension Scheme from September 2019.

lA Funded Statements
This represents funding paid by Cumbria County Council to support a continuum of provision for students with
special educational needs (SEN), learning difficulties and disabilities.

Boarding
This represents funding paid by boarding students for the provision of boarding accommodation and associated

activities.

school Funds
This represents restricted contributions to be extended on specific projects, activities and materials for the benefit
ofthe pupils.

Educrtlonal Activities and vlslts
This represents mainly parental contributions. voluntary income and educational income to be expended on

specific proiects, activities and materials for the benefit of the pupils.

Communlty & Outdoor Ed

This represents funding received for the provision of adult learning courses, plus student course fees for full cost
recovery courses and adventure weeks.

Sports t€ttlngs
This represents funding paid by external users ofthe sporting facilities, a designated fund to be used for the
replacement of sports equipment and the resurfacing of the all weather pitch.

C.tering
This represents funding relating to the provision of school meals for students and staff
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR EilDED 31 AUGUST 2024

Funds in Deflcit
Finance Lease Fund - this fund has been entered into the accounts within the restricted fixed assets funds in order
to show in the fixed assets used for charitable purposes fund the full value of the fixed assets at the year end. The

deficit balance on this fund is eoual to the finance lease creditor disclosed in the accounts.

Pension Reserve Fund - this fund represents the deficit on the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) at the year

end. The academy has previously entered intoan agreement effective from 0l April 2014 to make additional
contributions in addition to normal funding levels. lt is anticipated that the payments will be made over 10 years

from 0l April 2023.

Boarding Fund - Trustees approved a balanced three-year budtet, with healthy reserves for the period to
3llOBl2O27. As a result ofthe exceptional circumstances arisint ftom Brexit and the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Boarding Fund has been supported by a transfer of f 1m,000 from General Unrestricted Funds for the financial
period ended 31/0812024. IheHead ot Boarding has been provided with a healthy marketing budget to develop
strong contacts with boarding agents and increase boarding student recruitment. As a result of these measures, we
aim to bring the fund out of deficit by 2026.
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SOUTH WESTMORIAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST
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17. Funds (corrtinued l

ComparatiE lntomatlon in respect of the preceding p€riod is as follows:

Funds Balance at lncoming Resources

01-5ep resou.ces ereended
CfE

Gains, Loss€s

and Transfers
ERestricted Fked Arset Funds

Fixed Assets used for
Charitable purposes

Other
Boarding

Finance lease fund
ESFA formula capital fund
ESFA condition improvement fund

Electrical - Milnthorpe
Electrical- l-easgill

Electrical - Boarding House

Electrical - Sports Hall

Non ESFA Capital proiect
Other Capital Grants

Restricted General Funds
Dft / ESFA newnue Gmn's

General Annual Grant (GAG)

Pupil Premium
Teachers pay grant
Teachers pension grant
Schools supplementary grant
Mainstream schools additional grdnt
Recovery premium grant
National tutorint programme

Other DfE/ESFA Grants
Other Govemmcnt Gronts

Local Authority Funded Statements
Other Local Authority Grants

Bog/rding Fund
School Funds
Othet todtng o(tlvfties
othet Educottonot Operotions

Educational Activities and Visits
Community & Outdoor Education
Other

11,209,636 73,337 17,077,7261 279,810 10,485,657

709,560

70374,732
1,168,969
(695,30s)

4,2M
3,574

321,598
2A,A2A

(28s,903)

89,369

(3s9,07s)
(33O470)

73,337 (23,337)

14,2441
(3,s74)

(321,s98)
(28,828)

Balance at
31-Aug

f

10,129,035
85&613

(s01,991)

109,378
26,774

194,318
(s0,000)

5,992,525
155,525

33,085
155,307
75,U4
36,708
8,23s

53,957

171,420
26324

1,111,143

35,174
900

1s0,820

438_134

(5,703,676)
(1ss,s2s)

(33,08s)
(15s,307)

(7s,844)
(36,708)

(8,23s)
(s3,9s7)

l17t,42Ol
126,3281

(1,07s,876)
(34601)

(soo)

(1s0,820)

lto2,28/.l 896,12s

|'t20,4321 (371,068)

89,942

438.134)

Restricted Penslon Resen e Funds
Pension reserve

Tolal Restdcted Funds

513,026

(1,3s9,0O0)

a,M5,t05 (8,120,416)

6,000

(222,7761

1,071,000

614,999

(282,0O0)

(845,974) 8.445.105 I 114.4161 8r',8.2u8

Unrestricted Funds

General Unrestricted Funds
Designated Sports Fund
Catering Fund

Total Unrestricted Funds

195,120
778,28t

199,@9
70,1o5

258,933

(73,031)
(52,493)

(10o,00oJ

42,906

221,698
18s,893

407.591

(311,839)
373,407 534.@7 I447,353) (57,094)

to,7?7,61 9.0s7.089 19.Total Funds

Pa& 4A

1.071.0@ LL,226,247
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULT! ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMETTITS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

17. FUJi,ds lcontinuedl

Total ftrnds analysis by academy

Fund balance at 3l August 2024 were allocated as follows

Dallam School

CentralServices
Total before fixed assets and pension reserve

202/l 20.2?

7,783,761 7,022,590

7,L83,767 7,022,590

Restricted fixed asset fund
Pension reserve
Total

10,055,606
(152,0@)

10,/las,557
(282,0O0)

Total cost analysis by academy

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:

2C24 2023

Teachint and
Educational

Support Staff
Costs

€

Othe.
Support Staff

Costs
2

Educational

Supplies
.e

Other Costs
(erdudint

dep'nl
E e e

Dallam School

CentralServices
Academy Trust

4,493,724 1,657,U8 334,855 7,977,673 8,4 ,770 8,933,801

4491,724 1,657,t4t 334365 1.977.67? 8./154.110 8.933,801

2023 total 4.368.635 7.723.299

18. Analysis of Net Assets B€lween Funds

Fund balances at 31 Autust 2024 are represented by:

Tangible fixed assets

Current assets
Current liabilities
Long term creditors
Pension scheme asset / (liability)
Total Net Assets

385,504 2,455,363 8,933,801

Unrestricted
Funds

f

Restricted
G€neral

Funds
E

472,142 7,8/.2,7

l7,os7,2761
173,9291

(162,000)

Restricted
Fixed Aset

Funds

€
1o,364,279

16,745
(211,064)

(113,354)

Total
Funds

e
ro36/,279
2,331,651

(1,268,280)
(787,2831
(162,00O)

472,142 s49,619 10,056,605 Lt,O7t,t67

Comparative information in respect of the precedlnt period is as follows:
Restdcted

Unrestricted General
Funds Funds

EE
Tangible fixed assets

Current assets

Current liabilities
Long term creditors
Pension scheme asset / (liability)
Total et Assets

407,591 1,852,538
(1,149,2s4)

(88,38s)
(282,0OO)

Restricted
Filed Asset

Funds

c
LO,9A7,648

63,3M
(2s7,6231

(3O7,6721

Total
Funds

I
LO,987,648

2,323,s33

17,406,877t-
(39O0s7)
(282,00O)
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COMPANY TIMITED BY GUARANTEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

19. Lont-term commitments, lncludlng under operatlng leases 2024 2OAl
Cf

At the balance sheet date the total of the Academy Trusfs future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases was:

Assets other than land and buildints
Amounts due within one year

Amounts due between two and five years inclusive
Amounts due after five years

Land and buildings
Amounts due within one year

Amounts due between two and five years inclusive
Amounts due after five years

9,091

13,635

8,123

20,307

22,727 ?4,430

20. Commltments Under Finance Leas€s 2024 2023
EE

At 31 August 2024 the totalofthe Academy Trust's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable finance

leases was:

290,700
159,575

290,700
460,27s

4@,275 750,975

Dallam School has a 15 year lease with the Dallam School Charitable Trust (monthly rent of f24,225) for the use of
the Heversham boarding site, which expires on 23 March 2025.

21. Capital Commitments 2024 202il
€f

Contracted for, but not provided for in the financial statements 54,013
54,013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

22. Pension and similar oblitations
The academy trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme England and

Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff,

which is managed by Your Pension Service (YPS) for Cumbria County Council. Both are multi-employer defined benefit
schemes.

The pension costs are assessed ln accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest actuarial

valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2020 and of the LGPS to the period ended 31 March 2022.

Contributions payable to the schemes at 31 August and included in creditors were as follows:
2024 2023

te
Teachers' Pension Scheme

Local Government Pension Scheme

The total pension costs to the academy during the vear ended 31 August and included in staff costs were as follows:

Teachers' Penslon Scheme
Local Government Pension Scheme
Local Government Pension Scheme deficit recovery
LGPS current service cosvcontributions adiustment

2024
t

716,62A
335,443

93,608
(1sr"000)

2021
E

632,353
312,370
107,858
(59,0m)
983,591

Teachers' Penslon Sch€me

l.rtroductlon
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory contributory, defined benelit scheme, governed by the Teache.s'
Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in academy trusts. All teachers have the
option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a percentage of salary -

these contributions are credited to the Exchequer, Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds
provided by Parliament.

Valuation of the Teacherj Pension Scheme
The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in accordance
with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost cap) Diredions 2014 published by HM Treasury every 4
years. The aim of the review is to ensure scheme costs are recognised and managed appropriately and the review
specifies the level offuture contributions.

Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many
other factors. The latest actuarial valuation ofthe TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020. The valuation report was
published by the Department for Education on 27 October 2023, with the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, applying a notional
investment return based on 1.7% above the rate of CPl. The key elements ofthe valuatlon outcome are:

. Employer contribution rates set at 28.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration levy). This is an
increase of 5% in employer contributions and the cost control result is such that no change in member benefits is

needed.

Total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost offuture benefits)for service to the
effective date of f262,000 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional
investments held at the valuation date) of 8222,2OO million, giving a notional past service deficit off39,8m million
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SOUTH WESTMORTAND MULTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 3l AUGUST 2024

22, Pension and similat obligptio s (Continued )

The result ofthis valuation will be implemented from l April 2O24.The next valuation result is due to be implemented

from l April 2028.

The employe/s pension costs paid to TPs in the period amountedto E7L5,52a 12023: €632,363)

A copy ofthe valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensions website

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The academytrust is

unable to identify its share ofthe underlying assets and liabilities ofthe plan. Accordingly, the academy trust has taken

advantage ofthe exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined
contribution scheme. The academy trust has set out above, the information available on the scheme

Local Government Pension Scteme (LGPSI

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered funds. The

total contribution made for the year ended 31 August were as follows:
2024 2023

E2
Employer's contributions 335,443 312,170
Employees' contributions 107,256 99,193
Localcovernment Pension Scheme deficit recovery 93,608 107,858
LGPS current rervice cost/contributions adjustment (151,000) (69,000)
Total contributions 379,307 450,42L

The agreed contribution rates forfuture years are 20.4% for employers and 5.5% to 8.5% for employees depending on
pay bands.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of an
academy trust closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for
Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013 and on 21 July 2022, the Department for Education reaffirmed
its commitment to the guarantee, with a parliamentary minute published on GOV,UK.

At the balance sheet date the scheme is in deficit. The Academy has previously entered into an agreement effective from
I April 2014 to make additional contributions in addition to normal funding levels. lt is anticipated that the payments will
be made over 10 years from l April 2023, including €92,400 in 2023/24, E95,3OO in 2OZ4l25 and f98,2N in 2025126.
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22. Pension a nd similar obliSations { Corrtirr(ed,

The principal actuarial assumptions are:

The current monality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The assumed

life expectations on retirement age 55 are:
At31 At 31

august August
2024 2023

Reti ng todoy
Males 21.4 27.4

Females 23,9 23.8
Retiring in 20 yeors

Males 22.7 22.7
Females 25.6 25.6

Sensttlvity analysis

The table below, as produced by Mercer sets out the impact of a small change in assumptions on the defined benefit

obligation.
At Sl August At 3l August

2024 2021
Deficit Change Deficit Change

lnflation assumption (CPl)

Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/ inflation
Discount rate for scheme liabilities

Discount rate + 0.1%

Discount rate - 0.1%

Mortallty assumption - l year increase
Mortallty assumption - l year decrease
CPI rate + 0.1%

CPI rate - 0.1%

At 31

August
2024

179,000
387,000
399,000
167,@0
387,000
179,000

Fair Yalue at
3l Augun
2024

E

2,467,@0
994,000

2.ffi%
4.70*
2.70%
5.(x)%

2.awo
4.3W"
2.9Wo

5.1@6

At 31
August

202t

(103,000)

105,000
117,000

(115,(m)
105,(m

(103,000)

Fair yalue at
Sl Au8ust
2023
t

2,185,000
730,000

454,000
127,@O

2,254,W

42,OOO

284,000
303,000
24,(x)0

284,000
42,M

(120,000)

722,NO
141d)O

(138,m0)
722,@O

(120,000)

The Academy Trust's share of the assets and liabilities in the scheme were:

Equities
Government bonds
Other bonds
Property
Cash / liquidity
Other
Total market value of assets

527,OOO

149,000
2,622,ffio
6,759,WO 5,750,0@

Present value of scheme liabilities
- Funded
- Unfunded
surplus/(deficitl in the sdleme

(6,921,000) (5,032,0@)

(152,000) (282,000)

None ofthe fair values of the assets shown above include any of the Academy's own financial instruments or any

property occupied b, or other assets used by, the Academy.

Page 53



SOUTH WESTMORTAND MUTTI ACADEMY TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

22. Pensiofl and simllar obllgrtlois t Corrdnu€d,
The actual return on scheme assets in the period wai f502,00O (2023: 2rO,000)

Amourts recognised ln the Statement of Finandal Act t ldes arc as follows:

Current service cost (net of employee contributions)
Administrative expenses
Past service (cost)/8ain
Net lnterest cost
Total operating char8e

Analysis of other recognlsed gains and (losses)

Remeasurements (liabilities)
Remeasurements (assetr)

Total charge

chan86 in the deffcit / (surplus) in the year:

Deficit / (surplus) in scheme at l September 2023
Current service cost
Past service cost/(Eain)
lnterest cost
Employer contributions
Aduarial (gain)/oss - Remeasurements
Administration expenses
lnterest income
Plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements
Deficit / (surplusl at 3l August 2024

ChanEes in the present value of deffn€d bcnefit
obligations were as follows:

At 0l September 2023
Current service cost
lnterest cost
Employee contribution
Past service cost/(gain)
Actuarial (gains)/losses - remeasurements
Benefits/transfers paid

Benefft obligation at 31 August 2024

Changes in the fair value of Academy's share of scheme ass€ts:

At 0l September 2023
Return on plan assets
Administrative expenses
Actuarial gain/(losses) - remeasurements
Employer contributions
Employee contribution
Benefi ts/transfers paid

dosing fair value ot scheme assets at 31 Autust 2024

2023
e

(279,000)
(13,0m)

202i
f

(3s2,mo)
(12,O00)

(3,000) (s1,000)
(2es,mo) (415,0001

(192,0m)
177,0@

921,000
150,0m

(ls,ooo) t,o71,(m

Et
2024

282,000
219,O00

328,000
(430,000)

1S,O00

13,000
(32s,00O)

2021

1,359,000
352,000

273,W
(421,000)

(1,071,000)

12,000
(z22,Wl

162,m0 282,000

2024 2022
tI

6,032,000
279,@O

328,m0
102,000

6,291,000
352,000
273,W
99,000
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5,759,000 5,750,000

192,000 (921,0m)
(12,000) (62,000)

6,921,000 6,032,000

2024 2029
EE

5,750,000 4,932,000
325,000 222,W
(13,000) (12,000)
777,0@ 150,OOO

430,OOO 427,W
102,0fi) 99,OOO

(12,0,00) (52,000)
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YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

23. Related Party Transactions

Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust and the composition of the Board of Trustees being drawn from local

public and private sector ortanisationi transactions may take place with organisations in which the Trustees have

an interest.

All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with the requirements of the AFH,

including notifying the ESFA of all transactions made on or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their approval where

required, and with the academy trus(s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures relating to
connected and related party transactions.

The following related party transactions took place in the period of account:

Related oarties
. Dollom khool Choritoble Trust.

Mr R J Pirie (member), Mr R Villiers-Smith (trustee) and Mr S J Henneberry (Accountint Officer) who acted for
the academy during the period also acted as trustees for Dallam School Charitable Trust. The trustees have

no equitable interest in either entity.

Settlebeck khool
The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) for the SWMAT also acted as the CFO for Settlebeck School until 31

December 2023, this was through a non profit annual service level agreement.

Expenditure Related Partv Transactions

Dollom khool Chotitoble Trusl
Dallam School paid a monthly rcnt ot 824,225 for the Counter Part Lease to the Dallam School Charitable
Trust for the premises at the Heversham Site. During the year ended 31 August 2024 the total rent paid was

8290,7 @ 12023 | 8290,7 001.

The rent payable is at arms length, the rental value was calculated by an independent valuer through Lloyds

Bank. None ofthe trustees participated in, nor influenced this valuation.

During the year ended 31 August 2019 Dallam School paid in addition to the monthly rcnl ol 824,215, an

upfront annual rental payment ol E29O,7OO (2023:. E29O,7@l this balance is shown in prepayments at the
year end.

During the year ended 3l Autust 2022 the academy entered into a 3 year peppercorn lease with the Dallam

School Charitable Trust for the use of Heversham St Peters C of E School, Leastill, which expires on 14

February 2025.

ln entering into the transaction the trust has complied with the requirements of the ESFA'5 Academies

Financial Handbook.

lncome Related Partv Transactions
Dollom School Choritoble Trust-
During the year Dallam School Charitable Trust made donations to the South Westmorland Multi Academy
Trust of f103,00O (2023: €103,000). At the year end the South Westmorland Multi Academy Trust owed the
Dallam School Charitable Trust fNil (2023: fNil).

Settlebeck School
During the year the SWMAT invoiced Settlebeck School f11,302 (2023: €32,0m) for financial services. This

arran8ement ceased on 31 December 2024.

Kirkbie Kenddl School

During the year the SWMAT invoiced Kirkbie Kendal School f4l,820 (2O23i f15,200) for financial services

including supporting the CFO of Kirkbie Kendal School.
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24, Related Party Transactions - Trustees' Remuneration and Exp€nses

One or more trustees has b€en paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment with the
academy trust. The principal and other staff trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services they provide

undertaking the roles of principal and staff memb€rs under their contracts of employment.

Other trustees did not receive any payments, other than expenses, from the academy in respect of their role as

trustees.

The value of trustees' remuneration and other benefits for the period was as follows:

Mr S Hennerburry (Headteacher and ex-officio trustee):
Remuneration t9O,00O to f94,999 (2023: f75,00O to f79,999)
Employer's pension contributions E20,000 to f24,999 (2023: €15,000 to €19,999)

Ms R Williams (Headteacher and ex-officio trustee) - until 18 November 2022.
Remuneration nle (2023: E65,O0O to €69,999)
Employer's pension contributions nla (2023: f5,000 to f9,999)

The trustees received fNil (2023: €Nil) expenses in the year ended 31 August 2024

25. Trustees' and Officers' lnsurance

ln accordance with normal commercial practice the academy has purchased insurance to protect trustees and

officers from claims arising from negligent acts, erors or omissions occurring whilst on academy business. The

insurance provides cover up to €5,000,000 (2023: €5,000,000).

The cost ofthis insurance is included in the total insurance cost and amounted to f32.l2023i E72l

25. Memb€rs Uablllty
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it
being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount
as may be required, not exceeding 810 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a
member.

27. Atency Arrangements
The academy trust distributes 1G19 bursary funds to students as an agent for ESFA. The receipts and distributions
during the year have been excluded from the statement of financial activities. An amount is included in other
creditors relating to undistributed funds that is repayable to ESFA as shown below:

20.24 2023

Fund balance at Ol September 2023
Receipts from ESFA during the year
Repayment of bursary to the ESFA

Distributions during the year
Fund balance at 3l August 2024

24,429
I,M3

(20,s33)
(1O73e)

34,825
8,296

(74,2921

28,829

ln accordance with the guidance in the accounts direction the 16-19 bursary has been treated as an agency
arrangement as the trust is acting as a paying agent for the ESFA.
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28. Academy Boardint Trading Account

lncome
Allocoted to generol boording fund

Fee income
Other income
lnsurance receipts
Exceptional government fiJnding (see note 3)

Allocoted to restricted fixed os5€t boording fund
6rant income
Gifts in kind (see note 3)

Erpendlture
Allocoted to generol boording lund

Staff costs
Maintenance
Finance charge
Rates

Heat & li8ht
Cleaning
Staff development
Catering
Reprographics
Bank charges

Transport
Recharges

Commission
Legal fees

Professional fees

Other
Allocdted to rcsticted fixed osset boording jund

Maintenance
Legal and professional

Depreciation on finance lease
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Trading Statement Surplus/ (Deficit) on Boarding

Boarding Funds Reconciliation

Boarding funds surplus/ (deficit) brought forward
Trading statement surplus/ (defi cit)
Boardlng fundr before t.ansfe.s
Assets purchased during the period
Transfer to boardint fund from unrestricted funds
Adj Contribution to CIF project and fund Salix loan
Depreciation charSe on finance lease

Boading funds carded forward

Year Ended

31 Aug 24
Year Ended

3l Aug 23
e E e. 2

746,9L6
154,395

290,700

713,799
LO6,6M

-zw-7,202,O17 1,111,143

535,706
75,386
96,387

t0/.,873
75,481
72,930

315

93,730
783

1,185

7,486
40,253
27,959
6,061
3,863

57,266

544,155
85,333
96,382
69,6L2
51,846
10,760
7,332

a7,732
1,345
1,565

7,707

25,589
t7,569
2,.,406
20 188

26,955

194,318

149,618

(1,128,061)

(343,936)

350,426

194,318

t42,152

(1,07s,875)

(686,E96I
(269985) (651,629)

Restrlcted
General
Funds

C

(371,068)
73,950

Restricted
Fixed Asset

Funds

C

858,613
(343,935)

Finance
Lease Aset

Funds
e.

(s01,991)

Total
€

(t4,4/,6l
(269,986)

1297,7181
(19,2621

100,200

5r4,677
19,262

(s01,991) QA4,4321

100,200

(194,318) 194,318
(410,498) 533,939 (307.6731 (184.232)

+ This represents the rental payments across to the Dallam School Charitable Trust during the period.
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